
Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 1 of 7 

     Town of Hinesburg 
Development Review Board 

June 19th, 2012 
Approved July 5th, 2012 

 
Members Present: Zoë Wainer, Tom McGlenn, Ted Bloomhardt, Dennis Place, Greg Waples, 
Dick Jordan 
Members Absent: Bill Moller, Sarah Murphy, Kate Myhre. 
 
Also Present: Peter Erb (Zoning Administrator), Freeda Powers (Recording Secretary), Alex 
Weinhagen (Director of Planning & Zoning). 
Representing Applications: Will & Kathleen Patten, John Rooney, Deborah Bell, Brett 
Grabowski, Chris Galipeau, Mac Rood, Carl Ruppert. 
Public present included: John Lyman, Margery Sharp, Dorothy Pellett, Ken Brown, Ginny 
Roberts, Elly Coates, Martha Keenan, John Roos, Mary Crane, Jeff Tobroche, Jim Goldsmith, 
Jean Isham, Lenore Budd, Michelle Fischer, Peter White, Geoffrey Gevalt, Sally Reis.  
 
Tom McGlenn chaired the meeting, which started at 7:30pm. 
 
Hannaford: Tax Map #20‐50‐02.100.  The Board agreed there will be no testimony/discussion at this 
meeting; Tom M made a Motion to continue Public Hearing to July 17th.  Dick J Seconded the motion. 
All in favor, the board voted 6‐0. 
 
Redstone: Tax Map #20‐50‐66.000.  Will Patten represented this application for Conditional Use/Site 
Plan for a proposal to convert the empty free‐standing building located at the Old Cheese Factory 
property (#10516 Rte. 116) to a full service restaurant & tavern.    
 
Will P said he feels this project is a good investment, converting an old building, bringing new life and 
green space to the site.  He said improvements will include green space, sidewalks, bike racks and 
benches.  The new restaurant will also create about 25 new jobs while supporting local farms by use of 
fresh, seasonal, local foods.  All in all, he feels this project nicely furthers the Saputo site mission.  The 
interior will feature a large function room, decorated with pictures and maps of the historical mills of 
Hinesburg’s industrial past.  A large deck with canopy is also proposed, (12X40’ seating for up to 24).   
 
Will P said he sees the restaurant as being a place for residents to gather, with a warm and welcoming 
atmosphere.  He said the project demonstrates a great use of shared parking as the newly opened VT 
Smoke & Cure and VT Organic Creamery also use the parking on site.  He said the restaurant will not 
aggravate commuter traffic as the hours of operation are between 3‐10pm (Mon‐Thurs). 
 
Will P mentioned a creative solution to the issue of access. The restaurant will have pedestrian and 
bicycle access directly from Route 116, and vehicular access from Route 116 and Charlotte Road (via 
Stella Road) using the existing Cheese Factory access points.  With Select board support, the Applicant is 
also seeking permission from the VT Agency of Transportation to improve the existing Route 116 curb 
cut in order to create a 12’ deep and 54’ long fire lane and loading/unloading zone.    
 
He said they are ready to go with the restaurant, however do not yet have a name chosen. 
 



Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 2 of 7 

Tom M said he feels the site is so industrial looking by nature, he wonders what the applicant has in 
mind to make it look more attractive. Will P showed renderings of the proposed architectural design.  
John Rooney, architect for the project, said while they are limited to what exists (as Tom M said, a rather 
“box” like metal structure without a lot of character or warmth), they will try to break down the scale of 
the building by changing the color and profile.  A canopy is proposed over the entrance, and an awning 
will cover the new deck area. 
 
John R noted the new façade at the Organic Creamery and VT Smoke & Cure, two businesses 
recently opened at the Saputo site.  He said the new restaurant will follow that design, using 
dark paneling and cedar wood siding.   
 
Tom M asked if the awning would be seasonal.  Will P said yes.  Dick J asked if there would be 
windows on the North side.  Will P said there will be a functioning window overlooking the 
canal on the NW corner.  He noted that most of the back of the building will be used for 
storage, bathrooms, kitchen area.  Dick J asked if kitchen exhaust would be on the roof.  Will P 
said it would be. 
 
Dick J asked about handicapped accessibility and wanted to know if the Fire Lane will be clearly 
marked.  Will P said yes.  Tom M asked about landscaping plans.   
 
The applicant described proposed landscaping plans to include the addition of a sidewalk & 
concrete walkways for pedestrians, transplanting of existing Spirea (flowering plants) and 
planting of Spirea, low shrubs and perennials at the end of the driveway (around sign).  Lighting 
plans include wall mounted lights along the wall in the patio area, surface mounted LED lights 
at the entrance and an externally lit pedestal sign at the entrance of the parking lot. 
 
Deborah Bell, Senior Project Manager with Trudell Consulting Engineers, said that the primary 
parking required is already there.  The possibility for more parking spaces via a connection to 
the old area affected by the fire many years ago is an option.  The plan would be to resurface 
over the old existing tile for better drainage.  Proposal for storm water treatment includes 
grading to the area in the rear of the restaurant, to slope towards the grassed lawn to the East 
where a proposed grass swale will convey the storm water to a rain garden prior to discharge 
into the existing catch basin system on site.   In the front of the restaurant, grading of sidewalks 
will allow sheet flow to the SE and run to landscape islands and a grass swale before reaching 
the parking lot and sheet flowing into the catch basin.   
 
A proposed Service Door is planned for the front jog in building to North, and a wooden ramp is 
proposed for ease of deliveries.  An existing overhead door on the North side of the building 
(overlooking the canal) will be replaced with a window for patrons to enjoy views of the 
surrounding area.  
 
Ted B asked the applicant about parking requirements.  Will P said on a busy night, the 
restaurant could use almost all three sections of the lot available.  Through shared parking, 
there are 62 spaces available.   Alex W noted that the 15 spaces in the lot shown on the plans 
(closest to Rte. 116) in the middle portion are not yet striped.  A total of 32 spaces will need to 
be striped.  Greg W noted that on busy nights, some patrons may find their parking up to 400’ 
away from the entrance of the restaurant.  He wonders if some of those folks might seek other, 



Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 3 of 7 

less complying parking options.  He wants to know how the applicant intends to deal with this.  
Will P said by offering great food and a pleasant trip from the car to the restaurant, patrons will  
be willing to park appropriately and walk that distance. 
 
Ted B asked if there are any plans to put any types of barriers in place.  Will P said no, that a 
concern of Redstone is that they do not yet have a tenant in the large remaining space and until 
they know what that tenant might want/need (and as it is currently considered a municipal 
road) they don’t want any barriers put in. 
 
Deborah B said currently about 65% of the site is being utilized.  She agreed that until that 
remaining space is utilized, the best circulation is yet to be decided.  She said ideally, they 
would like to see Green Space in the front section of the building that has overhead doors, they 
would like to see landscaping “islands” and effectuated pedestrian safety in the parking lot.   
For now, the applicant proposes to “let this work” until that final space is filled and definite 
circulation finds its rhythm.   
 
Tom M asked if the public had any questions on this application. 
 
John Lyman spoke, saying he has concerns regarding noise & privacy from the North.  He lives 
across the canal there.  He also has concerns regarding traffic safety as he has witnessed a 
number of accidents over the years at the intersection of Rte. 116 & Mechanicsville Rd.  He 
thinks the applicant should consider the congestion potentially created at that intersection.  He 
also addressed his desire to see a more pleasing façade on the building, and asked the applicant 
if other options could be considered, saying it would look better for Hinesburg’s village.  Finally, 
he noted that fill brought in over the years has washed out and asked that the applicant be 
proactive in mitigating any further erosion. 
 
Tom M asked about delivery schedules and asked that the applicant be cognizant of that.  Will P 
said they are willing to “bracket” time frames that are deemed appropriate for deliveries (mid‐
day). 
 
Wendy Patterson spoke from the audience, asking the applicant if the capacity is going to be 
phased growth or starting at full capacity.  Will P said they are planning to open at full capacity; 
62 indoor seats, 24 deck seats, and 12 bar stools. 
 
Bill Schubart, a friend of Will and Kathleen P and former co‐chair of a Saputo Task Force, said 
the applicants seem very mindful of the area’s historic traditions and want to carry on those 
traditions, but also want to be an active part of the community.  He feels this project will enrich 
Hinesburg’s quality and will strengthen our “downtown.” 
 
Marge Sharpe asked about the water in the canal; is it flowing or pooling.  Kathleen P said it 
changes throughout the year.  Will P said there is little they can do regarding the water flow 
through the canal.  Marge S also said in her opinion, the applicant shouldn’t spend a great deal 
of time or effort to change the look of the building, rather suggesting they embrace it for what 
it is; a reclaimed space being reused to enhance the village, precisely what zoning and 
development is aiming for! 



Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 4 of 7 

 
Dick J asked if the applicant plans to clear out the existing brush.  Will P said they can not clear 
the brush unless allowed due to setbacks. 
 
Ginny Roberts spoke from the audience, saying she is in support of this project and feels that it 
will be much more welcoming.  It looks great and will be another gathering place for locals! 
 
Mary Crane asked about a sidewalk going North, where does it end?  Alex W said that sidewalk 
turns Left off Rte. 116, and goes into Farmall Drive (going behind the Fire Station).  Mary C 
asked about making the building more interesting, perhaps with the addition of art or growing 
vines.  Will P said he understands her concerns with the appearance of the building, and said  
that with the window into the dining area, nice lighting, and a porch decorated seasonally, he 
feels they are enhancing the visual appearance. 
 
John Roos spoke from the audience, saying he too is in support of this project.  He also agrees 
with comments made about the façade of the building, and hopes it can look more appealing.  
He asked about the existing walkway on the South side of the creek, where does it lead, and do 
people use the other existing trail there?  Alex W said that walkway is currently a dead‐end and 
noted that the other “trail” mentioned is a VAST trail. 
 
Peter White spoke, saying he is excited to have a destination spot and a place to eat after 
sunset.  He said this project is wonderful and sounds great! 
 
Peter E suggested a bench by the pull off for folks to sit and rest or wait for a ride.  Will P said 
that is a good idea. 
 
Carrie Fenn spoke from the audience, saying she thinks this project is good for the village.  She 
said as a member of the Planning Commission, that area was Zoned as Village for just this type 
of use!  
 
Sally Reis said she is very much in favor of this project and suggests the possibility of hosting 
music there as well.   
 
Chuck Reis spoke in favor of the project as well, saying he supports the aspect of local suppliers 
and feels it will enrich the Village area and help maintain economic stability. 
 
Martha Keenan spoke on behalf of NRG and said she fully supports this project.   
 
Jeff Tobroche spoke, saying he is happy about the new tax revenue. 
 
John Lyman reiterated his desire to see the applicant improve the look of the building, asking 
them to try to “make it better.” 
 
Steve *** said he supports the vision of the project. 
 



Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 5 of 7 

Geoffrey Gevalt said he is very excited and supports the projects’ efforts to revitalize the old 
Cheese Plant area. 
 
Tom M wrapped up public comments and made a Motion to Continue to the July 5th meeting.  
Alex W said the applicant is eager to begin with this project and asked the board to present 
specific questions now. 
 
Greg W said he wants to see a complete parking plan.  Ted B said he would like to see some 
alternatives explored in regards to siding and also requested more detailed landscaping plans.  
Tom M suggested making a gable canopy over the entrance rather than flat, to break up the 
“box” appearance of the building.   
 
All were in favor of continuing the hearing to July 5th. The board voted 6‐0. 
 
Hinesburg Center, LLC:   Tax Map#: 08‐01‐06.322  Brett Grabowski represented this application 
for Conditional Use for the recently constructed building next to Kinney Drugs on the corner of 
Farmall Dr and Rte. 116.  He proposes a new restaurant/café for the 1st floor and requested a 
Subdivision Revision for 3 residential units on the 2nd floor.   
 
Brett G responded to some staff concerns by clarifying the proposed hours of operation; 6am to 
be occupied by employees, closing at the latest 5pm.  He said some baking will take place on 
site but also a portion of it will be done off site. 
 
Dick J asked about deliveries.  Brett G said they would take place early morning (6am), adding 
there will be no large trucks.  Brett G said parking along Rte.116 will be utilized.    
 
Greg W asked about access to the apartments.  Brett G said there will be an entrance on the 
North side of the building and an emergency exit in the back.   
 
Dick J asked if the kitchen exhaust would be exiting the building on the West side; Brett G said 
yes, out of view from Rte. 116.  Brett G addressed parking concerns, saying as previously 
discussed, there are 90 spaces currently available.  With seating for 45 and 6 employees, a total 
of 30 spaces will be required.  He anticipates a good deal of foot traffic from the nearby 
residential developments.  Alex W reminded the board and applicant that hours of operation 
are important for shared parking to work effectively.   
 
Brett G noted dumpsters will be available for the residential and café uses and will include 
recycling separate from trash.  Casella will empty them as necessary.  
 
Greg W asked about the entrance to the café.  Brett G said there will be three entrances.  Ted B 
suggested a condition in anticipation of parking should it prove inadequate. Brett G said there is 
a meeting in August at which a parking plan will be further discussed.  He indicated plans to 
install parallel parking along Farmall Drive.  Ted B agreed with Alex W’s comment that shared 
parking is a good theory but has to work.  Brett G said they will look at circulation later. 
 
Ted B asked about proposed signage.  Brett G said there are no proposed signs.   



Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 6 of 7 

 
Peter E cautioned the applicant to be mindful of maxing out the lots; be aware of the green 
space balance.   
 
Ted B made a Motion to Continue to the July 5th meeting and directed staff to draft approval 
language.  Greg W Seconded the motion.  The board voted 6‐0. 
 
Jolley Associates: Tax Map #: 16‐20‐68.000  Mac Rood (architect), Chris Galipeau and Carl 
Rupert (engineers) represented this application; a proposal to expand the existing structure at 
the intersection of VT Rte. 116/Commerce Street (Mobil Station). The applicant proposes 16’ 
(950sf) expansion to rear of existing building to upgrade deli area.  They do not anticipate an 
increase in customer traffic or additional employees (currently 3).  The proposal includes a new 
gable (to match front entrance) which will improve the architectural appearance as well as help 
screen the mechanical equipment being put on the roof.  The existing planter will be moved 
and extended.  Mac R showed the board existing vs. proposed floor plans which include more 
deli space and cooler area.  There will be no seating added and no changes are proposed to the 
existing front entrance.  The existing lighting which is currently non‐compliant, will be replaced 
and brought up to code.  They will expand the sidewalk and landscaping around the building.  
They will be eliminating the existing parking along the North side and move it to the West in 
order to bring parking into compliance as well.   
 
The unloading area will be on the North side.  Handicap spaces are unchanged from the 
previous approval.  The applicant would like to add a cross‐hatch at Commerce Street and 
install Do Not Block signage at the entrance/exit.  
 
Greg W voiced his concerns, saying while access will be improved to the East, there will be 
insufficient space to maneuver; the area by the air pumps will become rather congested.  The 
applicant feels that 22’ is adequate for 2‐way traffic to maneuver.  Dick J suggested relocating 
the air pumps.  Carl R said they could move them to the West, out of the parking area.  Dick J 
asked if the applicant plans to paint indicators (arrows, etc.) in order to improve circulation.  
Carl R said yes, but cautioned they don’t want the area to become more confusing, and 
suggested they might only specify the loading area.  Peter E suggested a landscape feature to 
discourage people from driving into the loading area. 
 
Zoe W asked about plans for tree planting.  Carl R said the area is very wet and is not conducive 
to tree planting.  Tom M asked if the public had any questions.  
 
John Roos asked about the curb cuts at the entrance/exit.  The applicant said there are no 
proposed changes there, noting the existing measurements of 29’/30’ respectively.   
 
John R said he is concerned the DRB is looking at traffic only and advised them to consider the 
larger picture.  He foresees long queues and blocked entrances on Commerce Street.  The 
applicant advised that the proposed signage (Do Not Block) would address those concerns and 
suggested the project will actually enhance traffic issues, not make them worse.  
 



Approved DRB Meeting Minutes – June 19th, 2012      page 7 of 7 

Peter E cautioned that this should not come down to an enforcement issue.  The applicant 
suggested enforcement of parking/driving infractions would be the responsibility of the police 
department.  Peter E said results of poor design should not become a police enforcement 
concern nor a Town enforcement concern. 
 
Martha Keenan (NRG) spoke from the audience, asking about an easement for a sidewalk along 
Rte. 116.  Mac R said they are willing to grant the easement, but not construct the sidewalk.   
 
Lenore Budd (trails committee) spoke, saying this would be a key piece of sidewalk and would 
respect the Town Plan. 
 
Martha K said NRG had put in a pedestrian path but is not in a position to complete the 
sidewalk.  Carl R said they are willing to grant a 5’ easement for a sidewalk and agreed to 
further development if/when permits are in place and funds are assigned.   
 
John R noted that because there is a sidewalk on the South side, not on the North side of 
Commerce Street/Rte. 116, it requires crossing of three sides of the intersection to get safely 
from one side to the other.  Peter E said that is something the Department of Transportation 
looks into. 
 
Michelle Fischer spoke from the audience, noting the importance of trails/paths and sidewalks.  
They create “walkability” and this section in particular would be an important part of a “loop” 
system.   
 
Lenore B said there seems to be a lot of vagueness surrounding this topic.  She suggested the 
board make the applicant put the sidewalk in.  Tom M said normally, they do not require 
applicants to construct sidewalks that do not lead to a destination.  Ted B said it does not pass 
his test of a reasonable request.  Peter E said historically, the DRB has asked developers to 
construct sidewalks.   
 
Tom M made a Motion to Continue discussion to July 5th meeting, and directed staff to draft 
an approval with language to address the sidewalk.  Dick J Seconded the motion.  The vote 
Passed 6‐0.   
    
Minutes from June 5th, 2012 Meeting: 
Zoe W MOVED to approve as amended. Greg W seconded the motion.  Ted B abstained from 
this vote as he was not present at the 5/5 meeting. The motion PASSED 5‐0.  
 
Other Business: None. 
Ted B made a motion to adjourn.  Zoe W seconded the motion.  The meeting adjourned at 
10:00pm. 

Respectfully Submitted,  
Freeda Powers‐‐Recording Secretary  


